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CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I will open the hearing on Senate Bill (S.B.) 210. 
 
SENATE BILL 210: Provides for the licensure and regulation of anesthesiologist 

assistants. (BDR 54-155) 
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SENATOR BEN KIECKHEFER (Senatorial District No. 16): 
Senate Bill 210 is designed to expand Nevada’s health care workforce, increase 
medical education in our State and create efficiency in our health care delivery 
system. This bill, as S.B. No. 181 of the 78th Legislative Session, passed 
unanimously in the Senate but stalled in the Assembly during a deadline. 
 
Senate Bill 210 provides for the licensure and regulation of the anesthesiologist 
assistant (AA) by the Board of Medical Examiners and the State Board of 
Osteopathic Medicine. An AA is a highly skilled professional who works under 
the direction of a licensed anesthesiologist and is part of an anesthesia care 
team designed to implement anesthesia care plans. There are more than 
1,400 certified AAs in the U.S. The number of surgeries and complex diagnostic 
procedures requiring anesthesia increases each year. If the market for 
anesthesia grows, it is important to have more qualified anesthesia practitioners 
able to work in our State. 
 
The AA profession began in the 1960s when there was a shortage of 
anesthesia professionals in the U.S. The goal was to create a master’s program 
that enabled graduates to deliver anesthesia care under the direction of a 
licensed physician anesthesiologist. For more than 45 years, AAs have worked 
alongside physicians in the same way physician assistants work with surgeons, 
internists or pediatricians.  
 
Testimony from the 78th Session focused on scopes of practice for both AAs 
and nurse anesthetists, which are similar to AAs. For example, both professions 
have similar scopes of practice for assessing patients, administering anesthetics 
and postanesthesia care. However, nurse anesthetists practice with varying 
degrees of independence while AAs cannot practice without a supervising 
anesthesiologist. This bill maintains the differing relationship while providing an 
enhanced number of qualified anesthesia practitioners throughout the State.  
 
Testimony from last Session also noted AAs are recognized by the Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) as nonphysician anesthetists with 
identical standing to nurse anesthetists. Services of both AAs and nurse 
anesthetists are reimbursed by the CMS at the same level. 
 
Senate Bill 210 will attract highly trained and well-paid health care professionals 
to our State. Many of these individuals are currently prevented from practicing 
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here. It is important for us to pass legislation to try to bring more Nevadans 
home as health care professionals. 
 
There are many AA schools in the U.S. that have indicated an interest in 
expanding into our State and developing more health care training programs 
here. This bill will encourage these schools to do so. 
 
MARCUS CONKLIN (Nevada State Society of Anesthesiologists): 
Sections 3, 4, 5 and 6 provide the definitional changes necessary for this 
legislation. The definitions include anesthesia services, anesthesiologist 
assistant, medically direct supervision and supervising anesthesiologist.  
 
Section 7 outlines the services licensed AAs are able to provide.  
 
Sections 8 and 9 allow the Medical Board to license AAs and create necessary 
regulations.  
 
Section 10 outlines the professional responsibilities of AAs.  
 
Section 11 allows AAs to respond to emergencies and disasters.  
 
Section 12 outlines the responsibilities of supervising anesthesiologists. 
 
Section 25 gives the Medical Board authority to charge a fee for licensure. This 
section is the subject of one of the proposed amendments. 
 
Sections 26 and 27 provide for licensure by endorsement under certain 
circumstances. 
 
Section 34 provides for the title of A.A. 
 
Section 35 provides that it is unlawful to practice without a license. 
 
Sections 38 through 48—including sections 57, 58, 61 and 63—all amend 
similar provisions for the Osteopathic Board. 
 
The remaining sections relate to conforming language—changing names and the 
rest of the governing statutes—to coincide with the changes made in the 
previously mentioned sections. 
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There are two proposed amendments. One has been provided to the Committee, 
but the second is in progress. The Nevada State Society of Anesthesiologists 
(NSSA) proposed the first amendment (Exhibit C). It provides for the fee amount 
to be placed in statute and amends the effective date to coincide with the 
Medical Board’s budget year, which is the same as the State’s budget year.  
 
The second proposed amendment provides a provision allowing the Osteopathic 
Board freedom to move as quickly or slowly as it wants going forward with the 
changes proposed in this bill. For example, the amendment changes the 
language in line 44 of section 43 to “anesthesia services may include, without 
limitation, as prescribed by regulation.” This change gives the Osteopathic 
Board freedom to approve anesthesia services as it sees fit. The amendment 
also changes the language of section 48, subsection 4 to “a supervising 
anesthesiologist shall supervise no more than four anesthesiologist assistants at 
the same time, as prescribed by regulation.” This change allows the Osteopathic 
Board freedom to move into the process as it sees fit. 
 
Section 106 seems to suggest AAs can prescribe controlled substances. That is 
not the intent. The controlling language in this bill is in section 7, subsection 2 
for the Medical Board and in section 43, subsection 2 for the Osteopathic 
Board. These subsections make it clear AAs cannot prescribe controlled 
substances. The conforming language in section 106 does not suggest AAs can 
prescribe; this section only conforms to the other statutes. One still has to refer 
to the primary licensure statute to determine what an AA can and cannot do. It 
would be helpful to receive confirmation from the Legislative Counsel Bureau 
regarding whether our understanding of the language is correct or if section 106 
could be deleted. 
 
In addition, Sierra Strategies provided the Committee with various informational 
materials pertinent to this bill (Exhibit D, Exhibit E, Exhibit F, Exhibit G and 
Exhibit H). 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Have the amendments been processed, or are they new? 
 
MR. CONKLIN: 
The amendments from the Osteopathic Board are not ready. I will get that 
information to you as quickly as possible. The Medical Board’s amendment, 
however, was provided to you. 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449D.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449F.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449G.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449H.pdf
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SENATOR HARDY: 
I have always tried to match up the Medical Board’s and Osteopathic Board’s 
regulations so that the health care professional in question has a common 
playing field. There must be disagreement between the two boards regarding 
what each would like to do as far as supervisory matters or the implementation 
of this bill. Is that your understanding? 
 
MR. CONKLIN: 
I cannot speak for the Osteopathic Board; I can only speak to my conversation 
with the Osteopathic Board. With respect to the different types of medicine, 
everybody views a change in a different way. The Osteopathic Board wants 
some freedom to take the proposed changes at its own pace. I did not get the 
impression the Osteopathic Board was opposed to this bill. Both doctors of 
medicine (MD) and doctors of osteopathic medicine (DO) are represented in the 
NSSA. The amendments the Osteopathic Board would like to see are acceptable 
to the DOs in the NSSA. 
 
JERRY MATSUMURA, M.D. (Nevada State Society of Anesthesiologists): 
The president of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, Jeffrey S. 
Plagenhoef, submitted a letter in support of this bill (Exhibit I). I submitted 
testimony in support of this bill (Exhibit J). 
 
Senate Bill 210 creates the licensure category and regulation for AAs. 
Anesthesiologist assistants are physician assistants who specialize only in 
anesthesiology. They receive a master’s level of training. They are highly 
qualified and certified by the National Board of Medical Examiners, which also 
certifies physicians. 
 
We support S.B. 210 because there have been shortages of anesthesia 
providers. According to a 2013 RAND study, there will be an estimated national 
shortage of 3,000 anesthesiologists by 2025. During the 26th Special 
Legislative Session, the Medicaid payment system for Nevada singled out 
anesthesiology, including nurse anesthetists and anesthesiologists, and reduced 
our compensation for Medicare by 50 percent. At that time, we predicted there 
would be some issues with access to anesthesia services for Medicaid patients. 
For several years, we saw these issues. We were able to address the short-term 
shortage of anesthesia providers, but that does not prevent a long-term 
shortage. After the reduction in compensation, we managed to cover Medicaid 
cases through hospital systems, especially regional medical centers in large 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449I.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449J.pdf
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urban areas that pick up many patients who require emergency medical services 
and are out of financial resources. To guarantee access to anesthesia services, 
these regional medical centers contract with anesthesiology groups.  
 
You were provided with a graph that shows the number of physician extenders 
available to other medical specialties across the U.S. and in our State 
(Exhibit K). On average, other medical specialties have access to 6.5 physician 
extender options. Anesthesiologists in Nevada have the choice of one, the nurse 
anesthetist. In 17 other states, an anesthesiologist has the option of working 
with an anesthesiology resident in training, a nurse anesthetist or an AA. Our 
State does not have an anesthesiology residency program or AAs. We would 
like to be able to choose between two anesthesiology physician extenders. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
What about the rural areas? 
 
DR. MATSUMURA: 
This bill was never intended to increase anesthesia access in rural areas. The 
problem we have had is covering all of the Medicaid, weekend and night cases 
in the major metropolitan areas. Nurse anesthetists provide a lot of coverage for 
the operating facilities in rural areas. Seventeen years ago when I was with the 
NSSA, we tried to do an anesthesiology outreach program for rural areas, but 
our offers were rejected. These areas thought they had adequate access to 
anesthesia services. My current group, the Associated Anesthesiologists of 
Reno, provides coverage to Gardnerville. If I have AAs at the main hospital, that 
frees up anesthesiologists to help rural areas. If we send one AA to a rural 
operating room, we also have to send an anesthesiologist because AAs always 
work under the medical direction of anesthesiologists. 
 
ROBERT WAGNER (American Academy of Anesthesiologist Assistants): 
I submitted testimony in support of this bill (Exhibit L). 
 
You should keep a couple of questions in mind. Do you trust your physician to 
make the right choices for you? Do you want an anesthesiologist involved in 
every aspect of an anesthetic when you go to a hospital? This bill allows for 
such involvement. Wherever an AA is, a physician anesthesiologist must be 
present in the facility as anesthetics are being administered. 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449L.pdf
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Prominent hospitals employ students who graduate from AA programs. We 
cannot supply enough AAs to anesthesia groups. In Florida, AAs have not 
displaced any anesthesia providers. This bill does nothing to regulate nurse 
anesthetists. 
 
As a certified AA for 27 years, I am considered an anesthetist. The federal 
registry defines an anesthetist as a certified AA or a certified registered nurse 
anesthetist (CRNA). 
 
When cases become difficult, an extra set of hands is needed. I am glad the 
physician anesthesiologist is there. Whenever an anesthetic is being used, I 
would recommend you ask if a physician anesthesiologist is present.  
 
The role of the AA is ultimately determined by the physician anesthesiologist. 
 
In Florida, there has not been one AA disciplined for patient safety or 
professional reasons since 2004. Florida is the second most popular state for 
AAs in the U.S. Georgia is behind Florida. There is not one official study 
suggesting AAs as unsafe. One study from Case Western Reserve University 
looked at roughly 50,000 cases involving both AAs and nurse anesthetists, and 
the outcomes were exactly the same. 
 
If there were a question about education or safety, the states AAs worked in 
would limit what AAs could do. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Section 4, subsection 1 states an AA is a person who is “a graduate of an 
academic program approved by the Board or, by general education, practical 
training and experience determined satisfactory to the Board.” Does this mean 
an AA should have a master’s degree no matter what? 
 
MR. WAGNER: 
All AA programs are at the master’s level. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Does this mean all AAs would have master’s degrees? 
 
MR. WAGNER: 
Yes. Our accrediting body requires the degree to be at the master’s level. 



Senate Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy 
March 8, 2017 
Page 9 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Is there an amendment clarifying section 4, subsection 1? 
 
MR. WAGNER: 
Are you asking if the language should be clarified in this subsection? 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Because all AAs have master’s degrees, section 4, subsection 1 could say 
something like “a graduate of an academic master’s program approved by the 
Board.” How does one get the practical training or experience mentioned in this 
subsection without completing a master’s program? 
 
MR. WAGNER: 
The language “a graduate of an accredited anesthesiologist assistant program” 
would address your concerns. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Physician assistants have a required amount of time for didactics and clinical 
training. Are the time frames for didactics and clinical training outlined in 
AA programs? 
 
MR. WAGNER: 
Yes. The first 12 months is didactic work; the remainder is clinical work. 
Anesthesiologist assistant programs are different than physician assistant 
programs in that many AA programs start their students clinically in the first 
year. Case Western Reserve University students, for example, start clinical work 
in the first semester. Nova Southeastern University students start clinical work 
in the third semester. Accreditation standards require students to complete a 
minimum of 2,000 clinical hours prior to graduation. The average AA student 
completes 2,500 clinical hours. Additionally, students are required to provide a 
certain amount of anesthetics in each specialty of anesthesia before graduation. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
If we kept the word “or” in section 4, subsection 1, MDs or DOs could 
potentially have shortened course loads and experience requirements. 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
Nevada, like many other states, recognizes we need more providers of health 
care, especially mid-level providers. It seems AAs are an alternate path. Is this 
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accurate? For example, a nursing track and a non-nursing track could both lead 
to a highly competent mid-level provider. 
 
MR. WAGNER: 
That is correct. An AA is a different path for the same end result. Nurse 
anesthetists and nurse practitioners go the nursing route. Physician assistants 
go the medical route. 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
I believe we have been licensing physician assistants for decades. 
 
JOHN DIMURO, D.O. (Chief Medical Officer, Division of Public and Behavioral 

Health, Department of Health and Human Services): 
The Department of Health and Human Services supports S.B. 210. The 
Department supports the Governor’s desire to increase access to health care in 
the State.  
 
As a certified anesthesiologist and pain medicine specialist, I support this bill. 
Anesthesiology assistants will be able to provide quality access to care in this 
State, especially while practicing under the guidance of a physician. 
 
During my anesthesiology residency at Georgetown University, I trained 
alongside nurse anesthesia students. They were trained by the same attending 
physicians who worked alongside the residents. Training for AAs mirrors the 
nurse anesthetist programs. The American Society of Anesthesiologists’ Closed 
Claims database is the main repository for anesthesia malpractice and 
negligence claims. There are no data in this database revealing an inadequacy of 
care when AAs are involved in the administering of anesthetics. In the same 
way office-based medicine has changed from the doctor-patient relationship to 
the care team model—which includes medical assistants, nurse practitioners and 
physician assistants—anesthesiologists need to adapt to the growing need for 
services. The use of AAs in the health care workforce would be a welcome 
addition. 
 
Our Medicaid rolls have increased dramatically since the implementation of the 
Affordable Care Act, and there are access issues. Each quarter, the list of all 
new medical licensees in the State comes directly to my desk. Next to 
psychiatrists, anesthesiologists are the second most rare specialty. 
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Anesthesiologists and radiologists are in the most unique situations with regard 
to operating room and in-patient care. Exclusive contracts are used by hospitals 
so that a facility can guarantee coverage of such services. The use of AAs will 
allow better access to care in all services provided by anesthesiologists. 
 
In the same way CRNAs have provided reliable, quality care for years, the 
addition of AAs to the anesthesia care team will provide a better offering of 
services and access to quality care under the oversight of physician 
anesthesiologists. 
 
SHAINA RICHARDSON, M.D. (Associated Anesthesiologists of Reno): 
The Associated Anesthesiologists of Reno supports S.B. 210. 
 
Anesthesiologist assistants function identically to nurse anesthetists within the 
anesthesia care team model. Their equivalency in patient safety has been 
demonstrated by multiple studies, most notably the aforementioned Case 
Western Reserve University study. A subsequent study by the Kentucky 
Legislature showed the exact same thing. Insurance companies classify AAs and 
nurse anesthetists the same in terms of risk assessment. Additionally, a 
peer-reviewed study showed that when a physician anesthesiologist was not 
involved in the care of a patient, there was an increased death rate—2.5 deaths 
per 1,000 cases. 
 
Anesthesia services are billed at the same rate regardless of who provides the 
anesthetic. Nurse anesthetists often use the term “practice independently” and 
imply anesthesia services would be cheaper this way. Per federal code and 
State law, all nurse anesthetists must be supervised by a physician. The 
differences in income between a physician anesthesiologist and nurse 
anesthetist are based on employment and salary structures rather than billing. 
 
The University of Colorado uses a ratio of one to three of physician 
anesthesiologists to AAs, with the imminent plan to increase the ratio to 
one to four. This ratio of one to four was adopted by the CMS and has been 
deemed safe by multiple outlets. At the University, the ratio of one to three was 
used so that in the event of an emergency, a physician anesthesiologist could 
open a fourth room with another ancillary provider and still fall within the legal 
boundary of medical direction. During such a time, another physician 
anesthesiologist could be called in to take over the case.  
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No nurse anesthetist jobs have been lost in the University of Colorado system 
since the hiring of AAs began in 2012. In the past four years, the University 
hired only 20 AAs while hiring 40 nurse anesthetists. In the four years 
preceding AA licensure capability, only 14 nurse anesthetists were hired. 
Anesthesiologist assistants did not take nurse anesthetist jobs but rather 
expanded upon previous staffing trends to meet the growing needs for 
providers, similar to what we expect to occur in Nevada. This makes sense 
considering there are almost 50,000 nurse anesthetists nationally and nearly 
2,000 AAs. 
 
Anesthesiologist assistants are competent, safe and valuable members of the 
anesthesia care team. I was impressed with the certified AAs and AA students I 
worked with. By the end of their training, AA students have an excellent 
knowledge base, are thoughtful in how they work through problems in the 
operating room and have high-quality clinical procedural skills. 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
Would the standard of care be any less with AAs versus nurse anesthetists? 
 
DR. DIMURO: 
No. From speaking with people who have worked alongside AAs, hearing the 
testimony this morning, speaking with Dr. Matsumura and experienced people in 
the field, and being a certified anesthesiologist, I feel care would not be 
compromised. Care would actually be increased because there are 
two anesthesia providers working simultaneously with one patient. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
You mentioned the difference between the death rate or complications between 
an AA and a CRNA. We heard earlier that this bill is not intended to expand 
access to anesthesia services in rural areas; it is intended to staff urban areas. 
With these things in mind, how does this bill enhance patient safety in rural 
areas? 
 
DR. RICHARDSON: 
The study I mentioned showed that when a physician anesthesiologist was 
involved, there was a lower death rate as opposed to other situations when 
either no physician was involved or a physician other than an anesthesiologist 
was involved. 
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This bill is not solely intended to expand rural access to care. However, by the 
nature of having AAs at our disposal, we could then staff urban centers with 
AAs. That would free up physician anesthesiologists to go to rural areas. At this 
time, we need all available physicians to work in the urban areas. We need to 
expand our staffing to potentially help rural areas in the future. 
 
GEORGE ROSS (Hospital Corporation of America, Inc.; Sunrise Hospital and 

Medical Center): 
We support S.B. 210. At Sunrise Hospital and Medical Center in Las Vegas, 
Medicaid expansion has dramatically increased our patient load. The average 
number of inpatients has moved from about 510 to the mid-600s, which is 
about a 25 percent to 30 percent increase. The Medicaid patient load as a 
whole, which is now 42 percent of our inpatients and 55 percent of our 
emergency room patients, contains the highest acuity patients. These 
individuals have been sick and untreated for a long time. They have a lot of 
chronic issues that require hospitalization. This bill will enable us to have better 
access to quality anesthesia providers. 
 
SIDNEY SANFORD: 
I am an AA student at Nova Southeastern University. I would like to work in 
Nevada after my training. 
 
We go through a rigorous 27-month program. In order to get into the program, 
we have to take all of the premed prerequisites and the Graduate Record 
Examination or Medical College Admission Test. 
 
Nothing would make me happier than to have my home State support my 
profession. 
 
Having AAs in our State is not an experiment. There are 17 other states where 
AAs are licensed and recognized. We are highly skilled. We are not dangerous; 
we are simply a minority. Nurse anesthetists outnumber us 30 to 1. We want 
the same right nurse anesthetists were given to work in this State. 
 
We ask the Committee to look at the facts that concern our profession and 
make a decision based on that information. 
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JOEY PARRISH: 
I will read from my prepared testimony (Exhibit M). I also submitted a social 
media post to support my testimony (Exhibit N). 
 
CATHERINE M. O’MARA (Executive Director, Nevada State Medical Association): 
The Nevada State Medical Association (NSMA) supports S.B. 210. 
 
Not every person is going to be in favor of this bill, yet it is still good policy. 
When we think about the anesthesiology groups that approached us, we learned 
these are the groups willing to take evening call, weekend call and Medicaid 
patients. Quality care is only as meaningful as the ability of a surgeon to 
assemble a team, which includes anesthesiology services, to serve a Medicaid 
patient. Not 100 percent of Nevada physicians are in favor of this bill, but the 
NSMA is. This bill is good for patient care and physicians. It promotes a 
physician-led team and physician extenders. 
 
MICHAEL G. ALONSO (Renown Health): 
Renown Health supports S.B. 210. We support access to health care. We 
support the idea of trying to meet workforce shortages in health care, and 
anesthesia is no exception. 
 
JESSE WADHAMS (MEDNAX Services, Inc.; Nevada Hospital Association): 
We support S.B. 210. 
 
BRIAN HAGER, D.O.: 
I oppose S.B. 210 for several reasons. In an operating room environment, there 
is a one-on-one intensive care relationship between the patient and 
anesthesiologist. The anesthesiologist is never more than one or two feet away 
from the patient at any time. With physician extenders, there are four patients 
under anesthesia in four different operating rooms. The supervising 
anesthesiologist is going to be running around at various stages of the 
anesthesia operation, whether that be during the induction of the anesthetic, 
surgery or the wake-up process. Each stage of anesthesia carries with it 
dangers and difficulties, and each requires varying amounts of an 
anesthesiologist’s attention. With one anesthesiologist moving among 
four different rooms, an individual patient is only receiving 25 percent of the 
anesthesiologist’s attention at any time. What are the contingency plans to take 
care of problems when they occur in multiple operating rooms? These AAs have 
varying levels of experience. One doctor is now responsible for eight people: 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449M.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449N.pdf
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four asleep patients and four AAs. Will that one doctor be able to handle this 
responsibility all the time? The anesthesiologist will have four billable cases 
running at one time. Is he or she willing to accept a lower reimbursement 
because each patient is only receiving 25 percent of his or her attention at any 
time? 
 
In Las Vegas, there is not a problem in recruiting anesthesiologists. Every time I 
post a job opening for an anesthesiologist, I receive no less than six responses. 
 
The military does not use AAs, but there are qualified CRNAs in the military. Do 
the citizens of Nevada want to be the test center for AAs? 
 
Regarding the study about the absence of malpractice incidents with AAs, if 
you dig further, the data is recorded under the supervising anesthesiologists. 
Anesthesiologist assistants practice under the malpractice policies of 
anesthesiologists. Anesthesiologist assistants are not insured separately like 
CRNAs are, so there is no access to morbidity and mortality data for CRNAs 
versus AAs. From the limited data, there is no way to determine how often an 
AA has been sued. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
How often does the nurse anesthetist need to be rescued? Certified registered 
nurse anesthetists are great, but is there a difference in training between AAs 
and CRNAs? Is there a study that looks at the malpractice incidences of 
anesthesiologists who use AAs versus those who do not, including the number 
of suits against these anesthesiologists? 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
We heard earlier about the high number of Medicaid patients. Mr. Ross said 
55 percent of emergency room patients at Sunrise Hospital and Medical Center 
in Las Vegas are on Medicaid. Do you see a lot of Medicaid patients? 
 
DR. HAGER: 
We see a fair number of Medicaid patients. We do not get to choose our 
patients. The surgeon books the cases, and we do everything that comes our 
way. 
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SENATOR GANSERT: 
There is such a large volume of Medicaid patients. This bill would help with 
that. 
 
ALINA GRIGORE, M.D.: 
I am concerned about the quality and safety of anesthetic care we will provide if 
AAs are allowed to practice in Nevada. Our State has a higher percentage of 
retired people with a significant rate of morbidity. The complexity of cardiac 
surgeries is increasing. 
 
We have enough anesthesiologists in Nevada committed to provide excellent 
care to our patients. We should not compromise the quality of care that can be 
provided to patients with Medicare or Medicaid coverage. Response time is 
small—there is only a three-minute window to save a patient’s life. An 
anesthesiologist may not be available to help right away if he or she is covering 
four rooms.  
 
Quality of care could be improved if hospitals were willing to support 
anesthesiologists more, such as allowing them to take calls and cover services. 
Hospitals could also reduce the number of exclusivity contracts. 
 
The main concern here is patient safety. 
 
JASWINDER SAMRA, M.D.: 
Merritt, Hawkins and Associates recently conducted a study showing physician 
anesthesiologists’ needs for Nevada. The accepted standard is seven to 
eight anesthesia providers for a population of 100,000. In Clark County, we 
have 12 anesthesiologists per 100,000 people.  
 
About 50 percent of my practice is Medicare and Medicaid patients. These 
patients’ services are reimbursed to me at approximately 33.33 percent of the 
rate of a commercial insurance case. Medicare and Medicaid patients receive the 
same care from me as a self-paid or commercially insured patient. The message 
this morning seems to be these patients would receive better care from AAs, 
yet there are no cost savings to the system by providing that care. 
 
My training consisted of 12 years, with 12,000 to 16,000 hours of training. 
Even after my basic anesthesia residency, I completed a two-year fellowship in 
cardiothoracic anesthesia. During that time, I probably completed over 
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2,000 cardiac cases. Anesthesiologist assistants in training testified to 
completing only 11 cases. These AAs are not adequately trained. They 
complete 600 cases, 10 percent of which may be pediatric cases. That is only 
60 cases, and then they will be taking care of your children and my children in 
an emergency situation while a physician overlooks four rooms. 
 
High-acuity Medicaid patients need the direct care of a physician provider to 
ensure safety. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
I just read an article indicating AAs are on their way to practicing in the military. 
 
DR. SAMRA: 
The VA has never used AAs even though it is able to. It uses CRNAs. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Senator Spearman said AAs are on their way to practicing in the military. 
 
WILLIAM C. HORNE (Patient Advocates United for Safety and Excellence; Nevada 

Association of Nurse Anesthetists): 
We oppose S.B. 210. 
 
The provisions in sections 26, 27, 57 and 58 license by endorsement. This new 
category of care providers would create a system wherein these AAs would be 
trained somewhere else and then approved when they entered our State. We 
typically reserve endorsements for professions with proven track records. 
Licensure by endorsement for this group of providers would be premature. 
 
Equating physician assistants to AAs is a false equivalency. Physician assistants 
and CRNAs have medical training that far exceeds the training of AAs. These 
CRNAs go on to obtain their master’s and doctoral degrees. They have a certain 
level of autonomy AAs do not and will not have. There is a reason AAs do not 
have autonomy; the training AAs receive is not at the same standards as 
CRNAs and physician assistants. 
 
Medicaid patients need anesthesia like everyone else, but this bill would create 
two levels of care. Are we to assume because we have a high number of 
Medicaid patients, they would be relegated to AAs? Would CRNAs and 
anesthesiologists handle self-paid and standard insurance patients? 
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The Case Western Reserve University study mentioned earlier was not 
published; it was an internal data review. Because of the confidential nature of 
this quality-improvement data, no outside party can evaluate the underlying 
source data used to support the study’s conclusions. Scientific studies need to 
be critiqued by unbiased third parties. 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
I brought up Medicaid patients because of the high volume of them. We have 
seen the number of our Medicaid enrollees increase from 300,000 to well over 
600,000. Are we meeting the demand for care? This issue also extends to rural 
areas. If we are able to provide more care in urban areas using physician 
extenders, which already happens, then we can have anesthesiologists in rural 
areas. 
 
MR. HORNE: 
It is important to note there has been no mention of a shortage of CRNAs. 
These CRNAs are servicing 9 of our 17 counties. Anesthesiologists only service 
four. Anesthesiologists would have to accompany AAs to rural areas. However, 
CRNAs could perform the same services in rural areas autonomously. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Have we had any CRNAs or anesthesiologists displaced from their positions in 
states where AAs are allowed to practice? 
 
MR. HORNE: 
I do not have that specific information, but I will get it for you. Louisiana 
actually failed public policy allowing AAs to practice in the state. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
In my experience, it is rare for one thing to go wrong, let alone two, three or 
four things, in a surgical environment. Do we have any data that show how 
many things go wrong at the same time in the anesthesiology suite regardless 
of who is performing the services? 
 
MR. HORNE: 
There are testifiers here who can speak to outcomes between anesthesiologists 
and nurse anesthetists. Anesthesiologist assistants in other jurisdictions operate 
under anesthesiologists, so the data you are asking for are not readily available. 
In situations where an AA is involved, that data would fall under the supervising 
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anesthesiologist. However, data exist regarding outcomes between CRNAs and 
anesthesiologists. There is no difference in the delivery of care in the outcomes 
between CRNAs and anesthesiologists. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
I do not know if there is a big difference regarding unexpected events. I do not 
want people to think something bad will happen during surgery. There are risks 
with surgery, but it is unusual to have an unexpected event, let alone two, three 
or four events, at the same time. I do not know if there has been a situation 
with four unexpected events that one person had to address. If that data 
existed, it would be interesting to see. 
 
VIBEKE NUNEZ, CRNA: 
I am providing you with a document to support my testimony (Exhibit O). 
 
Let us say we have two patients. The first is Victor “Drake” Nunez. His 
anesthesia provider could be a physician anesthesiologist with four years of 
undergraduate study, four years of medical school, three years of residency and 
a fellowship, or his anesthesia provider could be me, a CRNA with four years of 
undergraduate study, seven years of critical care experience and three years of 
graduate school. The physician assistant and I are both safe, work 
independently and do not require supervision. If we pass S.B. 210, we could 
have a third provider, an AA with four years of undergraduate study and 
two years of graduate school. Drake is going to be assigned an AA for a 
tonsillectomy. 
 
Our second patient is 61-year-old Jerry Rodrigue. Due to some paperwork 
issues, Jerry is going to have a delay in his surgery, which will not start until 
8:00 a.m., the same time as Drake’s surgery. Both surgeons are ready to go 
back to their operating rooms at 8:00 a.m. While this situation was not planned, 
it occurs more frequently than one would think.  
 
The supervising anesthesiologist decides he cannot be in two places at once 
and goes back to Jerry’s operating room while letting the AA take Drake to 
another room. During the beginning of the anesthesia process for Drake, his 
blood pressure drops for no reason, and his heart rate begins to slow. Since 
AAs cannot legally provide patient care if there is a lapse in supervision, the AA 
calls his supervising anesthesiologist. After several phone calls, the AA 
discovers his supervising anesthesiologist cannot be in the room because the 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449O.pdf


Senate Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy 
March 8, 2017 
Page 20 
 
anesthesiologist is running a code on Jerry, who just had a heart attack. While 
the AA is on the phone, Drake’s heart rate and blood pressure continue to drop. 
He is now in critical condition.  
 
In this scenario, we have an unsupervised AA and an unexpected emergency. 
The anesthesiologist has to decide which patient he needs to be with: the 
61-year-old father or the 4-year-old son.  
 
Let us say the AA with Jerry needs to eat lunch, use the restroom or take a 
break. The supervising anesthesiologist would have to give the AA a break. 
Drake’s condition worsens, and we still have an unsupervised AA because the 
supervising anesthesiologist cannot abandon Jerry. If we were in rural Nevada, 
the chance of there being additional personnel would be slim to nonexistent. 
 
Although this is a fictitious scenario, a professional journal of anesthesiologists 
published a study showing that even with the appropriate ratio of one to 
two anesthesiologists for every AA, there is a 35 percent lapse of supervision 
during critical portions of an anesthetic case. With a ratio of 
one anesthesiologist to four AAs, there is a 99 percent lapse of supervision. 
These lapses are most common during worst case scenarios. 
 
JEANINE SWYGMAN, DNP (President, Nevada Advanced Practice Nurses 

Association): 
I will read from my prepared testimony (Exhibit P). 
 
JESSICA FERRATO (Nevada Nurses Association): 
The Nevada Nurses Association opposes S.B. 210. We have concerns about 
lapse in care and the fact that this bill does not address access issues in rural 
areas, where access to care is needed most. 
 
STEVEN M. SERTICH, CRNA (President, Nevada Association of Nurse 

Anesthetists): 
I submitted testimony in opposition of this bill (Exhibit Q). 
 
Senator Hardy mentioned the word “or” in section 4. The word “or” gives one 
the choice to do the first part or the second part. 
 
The study Ms. Nunez mentioned was published in March 2012 in 
Anesthesiology. The title of the study is “Influence of Supervision Ratios by 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449P.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449Q.pdf
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Anesthesiologists on First-case Starts and Critical Portions of Anesthetics.” The 
study looked at 15,000 records in 1 major U.S. hospital. The study investigated 
the ratio of 1 to 2 in medical direction and found that 35 percent of the cases 
failed. The study also found that in a ratio of 1 to 3, 99 percent of the cases 
failed. These data mean the medical professionals did not meet the seven Tax 
Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 requirements to bill Medicare, 
Medicaid and insurance companies for medical direction. If a bill is submitted 
and the seven requirements have not been met, that is insurance fraud because 
what was required to receive the anesthetic was not done. 
 
Anesthesiologist assistants have been blocked from practicing in Louisiana 
(Exhibit R). Kentucky did a study that concluded an AA needed to be both a 
licensed physician assistant and a licensed AA to practice in the state 
(Exhibit S). The Kentucky statute relating to this study’s conclusion is 
(Exhibit T). Perhaps Nevada should commission a study regarding AAs. 
 
Both the American Society of Anesthesiologists and the Nevada Association of 
Nurse Anesthetists oppose AAs administering regional anesthesia, such as for 
spinals or epidurals. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Has anybody been tried for an egregious act of insurance fraud, according to 
the seven requirements you mentioned, in the last five years? 
 
MR. SERTICH: 
The study did not look at insurance fraud cases. It only showed that the medical 
professionals were not meeting the requirements. 
 
In the last couple of years, several CRNAs have been questioning whether they 
would get in trouble if they signed off saying the anesthesiologist met the 
requirements. Our attorney says this is conspiracy to commit fraud.  
 
I do not know of any whistleblowing or fraud cases being brought forward. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Are there cases where AAs and CRNAs work together as part of an anesthesia 
care team? 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449R.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449S.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449T.pdf
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MR. SERTICH: 
I have not had any personal contact with AAs. One of the proponents of this bill 
mentioned AAs and CRNAs working together in Colorado, but I do not have any 
knowledge of the two working together. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Exhibit G shows many hospitals where AAs and CRNAs work simultaneously. 
 
MR. SERTICH: 
I do not have that knowledge. What list are you referring to? 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
The list, provided on Exhibit G, shows where the anesthesia care team includes 
AAs and CRNAs. I am trying to discern the differences between the 
two professions, but I am having a difficult time understanding if one is better 
than the other or if one should always be used over the other. 
 
MR. SERTICH: 
I can get that information from my national association and provide it to you 
later. 
 
JOANNE HEINS, CRNA: 
Certified registered nurse anesthetists have a minimum of seven to eight years 
of education and training specific to nursing and anesthesiology before 
practicing anesthesia. On average, CRNAs have three and a half years of critical 
care nursing experience before starting anesthesia. 
 
In March 2016, I was part of a group of over 15 CRNAs who were fired and 
replaced with anesthesiologists. The anesthesiologists did not miss any 
scheduled cases. There is not an anesthesia provider shortage. 
 
There are CRNAs licensed in Nevada who practice out of the State. Certified 
registered nurse anesthetists will move to Nevada if they are offered reasonable 
compensation and decent work settings. 
 
Certified registered nurse anesthetists have provided anesthesia for 150 years, 
improve access to care and are often the only anesthesia providers in rural 
settings. They have a proven safety track record. Anesthesiologist assistants 
are not needed in our State. 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449G.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449G.pdf
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JULIE CAVIN (Patient Advocates United for Safety and Excellence): 
Nevada has approximately 2.8 million people, 2 million of which live in the 
southern part of Nevada. A little over 500,000 people are senior citizens. We do 
not have compromised care, because there are enough anesthesiologists to care 
for the people here, especially aging individuals who will be going in for all types 
of surgeries. Last year alone, we had 327 traffic fatalities in our State, primarily 
in Las Vegas. Traffic accident patients are compromised when there is not an 
anesthesiologist present. Critical care patients need an anesthesiologist. 
 
One recent example is Bill Paxton. If he would not have had an anesthesiologist 
with him, he may not have had the chance to survive. If he would have had a 
technician with him, he probably would not have survived. It is frustrating that 
statistics for such situations are not available to us. 
 
When I lived in Atlanta, Georgia, I was put under anesthesia by a nurse 
anesthetist, but I woke up during surgery. She had to administer more 
anesthesia. 
 
We oppose S.B. 210. 
 
ANNETTE TEIJEIRO, M.D.: 
If we want to keep the highest level of anesthesia provider we have today, 
what are we going to say to the medical students who want to return and work 
as anesthesiologists when we are allowing for a lower level of provider? 
 
In the inner city, especially in Senatorial District No. 1, we have many 
immigrants from Latin America. Anesthesiologist assistants only exist in 
17 circumscribed locations, and they do not exist outside of the U.S. When we 
speak about medical tourism and foreigners coming into our State, understand 
that these people will be expecting the high level of care one gets from an 
anesthesiologist. We are moving in two separate directions with this sort of bill. 
 
It is disturbing to hear the comparison between physician assistants and AAs 
because anesthesia is a critical care specialty. For example, Michael Jackson 
died because he chose the wrong doctor to give him an anesthetic medication. 
 
It is unrealistic to expect someone to be in four places at the same time. There 
are occasions when things happen simultaneously in different operating rooms. 
Right now, there is an anesthesiologist in one room for one particular patient. 
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The term anesthetist is a term used worldwide for anesthesiologist because 
there are no assistants. There have been several misleading or misstated 
aspects of the testimony from the proponents. The entirety of S.B. 210 does 
not increase quality of or access to care. 
 
The Bureau of Labor Statistics and the U.S. Census Bureau have data showing 
that in places where there are AAs, the per capita ratios of anesthesia providers 
to population size are much lower. In Nevada, we have a ratio of about 
6,900 people per anesthesiologist. We have three times the amount of quality 
medical care than in other states. 
 
KEITH L. LEE (Board of Medical Examiners): 
The Medical Board has worked on the determination of registration fees. This is 
reflected in the proposed amendment mentioned by Mr. Conklin. 
 
SUSAN L. FISHER (State Board of Osteopathic Medicine): 
The Osteopathic Board is neutral on S.B. 210. We have worked on an 
amendment with the bill’s proponents. 
 
PHIL TOBIN, D.H.SC.: 
Anesthesiologist assistants have been practicing in Georgia and Florida for many 
years with great success. These AAs have extended the abilities of 
anesthesiologists and are competent health care professionals. In Georgia and 
Florida, AAs sometimes take many of the core classes with physician 
assistants. Physician assistants have helped underserved patients, and AAs are 
helping anesthesiologists get more patients access to surgery. One could 
compare physician assistants to nurse practitioners and AAs to nurse 
anesthetists. Anesthesiologist assistants practice in 17 states, including 
Washington, D.C., as well as Guam and our VA system. In some states, there 
are bridge courses where a physician assistant might choose to leave his or her 
practice and become an AA. Physician assistants cannot become AAs without 
first taking these bridge courses. Anesthesiologist assistant programs are 
rigorous, similar to physician assistant programs. Anesthesiologist assistants 
would complement the health care system in Nevada. 
 
J. DAVID WUEST, R.PH. (Deputy Secretary, Nevada State Board of Pharmacy): 
We enforce the laws that are passed. If S.B. 210 were to pass, we would 
enforce it. 
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Current language in the bill regarding the ability of AAs to prescribe may be 
confusing. Testimony today has informed us the intent is not to have AAs 
prescribe on their own. 
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Anesthesiologist assistants practice in 17 states. There has not been much 
evidence provided, if any, that AAs create unsafe environments in these states. 
Anesthesiologist assistants practice in hospitals such as Washington Hospital 
Center, Emory University Hospital and Cleveland Clinic Hospital. 
 
This bill does not address the ability of CRNAs to practice or practice 
independently. Senate Bill 210 does not strip away any ability from CRNAs. It 
specifically discusses the expansion of health care in our State by way of a 
safe, highly trained category of providers. 
 
For anesthesiologists who do not want to use AAs, they do not have to. This 
bill contains permissive language that allows an anesthesiologist group to use 
AAs if it deems the use of AAs an appropriate level of care for its patients. 
 
If you looked at the evidence presented to you, you would reach the same 
conclusion I have—this is an appropriate level of care for the people of our 
State. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I have always supported S.B. 210 because of its permissive language. There are 
some outstanding issues, so if you could work on them with the people and 
entities involved and bring that information back to me, we could move forward. 
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
We will report back to you when the amendments are complete. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 210 and open the hearing on S.B. 222. 
 
SENATE BILL 222: Provides that certain noncompete provisions in employment 

contracts are void and unenforceable. (BDR 53-799) 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5109/Overview/
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SENATOR BEN KIECKHEFER (Senatorial District No. 16): 
The issues addressed by S.B. 222 have emerged based on the Golden Road 
Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam Nevada Supreme Court case from 2016. Senate Bill 222 
relates to noncompete agreements in contracts between an employer and an 
employee. This bill makes certain provisions of noncompete agreements 
unenforceable in this State based on the new definitions and guidelines provided 
by the Supreme Court case. 
 
In the case, Sumona Islam was employed as a host at the Atlantis Casino 
Resort Spa in Reno. She left employment and moved to the Grand Sierra Resort 
despite having a noncompete agreement with the Atlantis. The Supreme Court 
held the noncompete agreement was unreasonable and unenforceable because it 
was overly broad and imposed an undue hardship on Ms. Islam. The Court 
noted the agreement prohibited Ms. Islam from being employed by any gaming 
establishment within 150 miles of the Atlantis, even if new employment were 
not likely to include the luring of players away from the Atlantis. The Court also 
noted such an overly broad restriction for a period of one year imposed an 
undue hardship on Ms. Islam by severely restricting her ability to be gainfully 
employed. Finally, the Court refused to reword the contract between Ms. Islam 
and the Atlantis. In instances where there is disagreement over components of 
a noncompete agreement, judges will often deem certain provisions 
unenforceable and allow other provisions to stand. This results in rewriting the 
contract between the two parties. However, the Court did not rewrite the 
contract in this case despite being common practice at the district court level. 
As such, the entire noncompete agreement between Ms. Islam and the Atlantis 
was thrown out. 
 
This bill is an effort to put some guardrails up around the issue of noncompete 
agreements and give some guidance to both businesses and employees as they 
negotiate these agreements. This bill will also help courts in their efforts to 
enforce these agreements when they come forward. 
 
Section 1 lays out the conditions that make a noncompete agreement 
enforceable. This section indicates that “a noncompetition covenant is void and 
unenforceable unless the employee to whom the noncompetition covenant 
applies has or had access to a protectable interest of the employer … ” The 
employer must have a protectable interest in the employee, and there has to be 
valuable consideration offered to the employee in exchange for signing the 
noncompete agreement. The noncompete agreement cannot do more than is 
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necessary to protect the interests of the employer, it cannot pose an undue 
hardship on the employee and there must be, during the hiring process, an early 
disclosure of the requirement that the employee enter into a noncompete 
agreement. 
 
Section 1, subsection 2 prohibits noncompete agreements from lasting longer 
than one year. Noncompete agreements are often shorter than one year, but 
there have also been instances where employers tried to enforce 
five-year noncompete agreements. This subsection puts into statute that one 
year is the maximum of what would be reasonable for such an agreement. 
 
Section 1, subsection 3 dictates that if an employee receives severance pay or 
some other measurable benefit after leaving the employ of an employer, then 
the period during which the employee receives such benefit does not count 
toward the one-year period. 
 
Section 1, subsection 4 ensures efforts by employers to enforce noncompete 
agreements do not make these employers subject to the antiblacklisting statute 
in our State, which is listed under section 2. 
 
Section 3 ensures this bill is not retroactive regarding existing noncompete 
agreements. 
 
Section 4 is the effective date of this bill. 
 
Another piece of legislation in the Assembly relates to the same subject matter 
as S.B. 222, but the Assembly legislation has substantially different implications 
and provisions. The Assembly legislation may move over to the Senate. I 
wanted to ensure this Committee had an opening hearing on the issue and that 
S.B. 222 was ready to move if necessary. There is certainly a necessity to make 
some changes to our statute based on the 2016 Supreme Court case. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I do not pay much attention to Assembly bills until they move to the Senate. 
This Committee is concerned and charged with processing the bills in front of 
us. 
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SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
I appreciate giving some guidance relating to the one-year period in noncompete 
agreements. There is also usually an aspect of distance. The Supreme Court 
ruled a 150-mile distance restriction was rather ludicrous. Has there been any 
discussion regarding the inclusion, in statute, of a reasonable distance? 
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
The issue of distance has been ruled both enforceable and unenforceable by the 
courts based on the distance in question and the scope of the other provisions 
in the contract as a whole. The problem with including a provision relating to 
distance—and why I have not included it in this bill—is that the differences 
between businesses and the unique skill sets employees bring have varying 
implications. One thing may be applicable for a casino host in a specific 
community, but for somebody dealing with significant intellectual property 
infrastructure or unique business processes, the implications could be at a 
broader level than what can easily be defined by the Legislature to have uniform 
applicability. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Noncompete agreements are used a lot in broadcasting. Does this bill exclude 
any profession or career? 
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
No, but this bill requires that the employee who is entering a noncompete 
agreement has or had access to a protectable interest of the employer. This 
term is defined in section 1, subsection 5, paragraph (b), subparagraphs (1) and 
(2): 
 

(1) Any trade secrets, business methods, lists of customers, secret 
formulas or processes or any other confidential information that 
could reasonably be expected to provide an advantage to a 
competitor; or  
(2) Substantial relationships with specific prospective or existing 
customers. 
 

There have to be specifics about what the business is trying to protect by 
restricting the employee’s job prospects. 
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SENATOR GANSERT: 
Would this type of legislation help with the burgeoning developments in Nevada 
regarding technology, new businesses and the influx of individuals with 
high-level skills? 
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
I hope so. That is one of the reasons I started working on S.B. 222. There is a 
need for greater high-tech skill development in the Reno startup community. 
Then the 2016 Supreme Court case emerged, and this case increased the need 
to put some guardrails up. 
 
Noncompete agreements are unenforceable and unused in California, so if one 
looks at Silicon Valley, where there is an incredible concentration of high-skill, 
high-tech and knowledge-based workers, an employee can move from 
one company to another fairly easily. This movability does not exist to the same 
degree in Reno and Las Vegas as it does where there is a high concentration of 
opportunity. I understand the desire of some businesses to protect their 
interests, but that desire should not come at the expense of an employee’s 
ability to start a new business. This bill does not undermine the ability of a 
business to protect its intellectual property and does not restrict the ability of a 
business to enter into additional agreements over protecting such intellectual 
property. 
 
WENDY STOLYAROV (Libertarian Party of Nevada): 
I will read from my prepared testimony (Exhibit U). 
 
LORNE MALKIEWICH (Nevada Resort Association): 
This is an important issue to the Nevada Resort Association. We are working 
with Senator Kieckhefer and others in developing consensus language. 
 
ALEXIS MOTAREX (Associated General Contractors, Nevada Chapter): 
We are neutral on S.B. 222. We support the one-year hard limit on any 
noncompete agreement. We are, however, concerned the only time at which an 
employer can impose a noncompete agreement is at the time of employment. 
Should the scope of an employee’s position change, we would like to see a 
noncompete agreement at that time. We would also like clarity regarding the 
term “valuable consideration.” 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE449U.pdf
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RAY BACON (Nevada Manufacturers Association): 
Noncompete agreements are reasonably common in the manufacturing sector. 
These noncompete agreements are almost exclusively seen with engineers or 
other individuals working on new processes or products, or they can be seen 
with employees in upper management. Most of our concerns have been 
addressed by Ms. Motarex. There should be some consideration regarding an 
employee’s status change within a company. In general, however, we agree 
with S.B. 222. 
 
JESSE WADHAMS (Nevada Hospital Association): 
We are neutral on S.B. 222. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 222 and adjourn the meeting at 10:50 a.m. 
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